
 

 
Page | 1  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Meeting Minutes 
 

Via Zoom Teleconference 
 

Monday, September 28, 2020 - 7:00 PM 
 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND ROLL CALL 
 
The Planning Commission meeting began at 7:00 PM. 
 
Commission Present:  Chair David Gabriel, Commissioner Dan Dawson, Commissioner 
Justin Derby, Commissioner Rachel Farac, Commissioner Curtis Havel, and 
Commissioner Peter Tiernan 
 
Commission Absent:  Commissioner Rao 
 
Staff Present:  Planning Manager Steve Marshall, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Veronica Nebb 

 
B. APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA 
 
 COMMISSION ACTION:  Upon motion by Commissioner Derby and seconded by 

Commissioner Tiernan, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to 
approve the final agenda. 

 
 AYES:   Commissioners Dawson, Derby, Farac, Gabriel, Havel, and Tiernan 
 NOES:   None 
 ABSTAIN:   None 
 ABSENT:   Commissioner Rao 
 
 Motion carried. 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT  

 
There were no members of the public that commented during this time. 
 

D. CONSENT ITEM 
  

D.1. Approval of PC Minutes of May 11, 2020 (JD, DG, DD, RF, CH, RR, PT) 

https://novato.org/


 

 
Page | 2  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 COMMISSION ACTION:  Upon motion by Commissioner Tiernan and seconded by 
Commissioner Derby, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to 
approve the minutes. 

 
 AYES:   Commissioners Dawson, Derby, Farac, Gabriel, Havel and Tiernan 
 NOES:   None 
 ABSTAIN:   None 
 ABSENT:   Commissioner Rao 
   
 Motion carried. 
 

D.2. Approval of PC Minutes of June 8, 2020 (DG, RR, DD, JD, RF, CH, PT) 

 COMMISSION ACTION:  Upon motion by Commissioner Dawson and seconded by 
Commissioner Farac, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to 
approve the minutes. 

 
 AYES:   Commissioners Dawson, Derby, Farac, Gabriel, Havel, and Tiernan 
 NOES:   None 
 ABSTAIN:   None 
 ABSENT:   Commissioner Rao 
 
 Motion carried.  
  
PUBLIC HEARING 

 
E. CONTINUED ITEMS 
  
 There were no agenda items. 
 
F. NEW ITEMS 

  
F.1. PUBLIC HEARING AND POSSIBLE ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS  

RECOMMENDING CERTIFICATION OF FINAL EIR AND ADOPTION  
OF GENERAL PLAN 2035 

Conduct a public hearing and adopt: 

1. A resolution recommending the City Council certify the Final Environmental 
Impact Report (“FEIR”) prepared for City of Novato General Plan 2035, its 
implementing actions, and potential amendments to the Novato Industrial Parks 
Master Plan and Precise Development Plan relating to life sciences campuses, 
including: 

 
(a) adopting findings related to potentially significant and significant and 

unavoidable environmental impacts, mitigation measures, and project 
alternatives analyzed in the FEIR; 
 

(b) adopting a Statement of Overriding Considerations related to the significant 
and unavoidable impacts disclosed in the FEIR; and 

https://novato.org/


 

 
Page | 3  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
(c) adopting the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program prepared for 

General Plan 2035. 
 
2. A resolution recommending the City Council adopt City of Novato General Plan 

2035  with recommended text modifications, including its associated land use map 
(Land Use Map GP-1) with a land use modification related to the Birkenstock 
property. 

 
 Planning Manager Marshall presented a slide show summarizing the staff report.  
 
The Commission discussed how best to address the Final EIR and General Plan 2035.  
Chair Gabriel decided to consider the Final EIR first and then General Plan 2035.  
 
The Commission asked questions of staff regarding: the visual simulations presented in 
the EIR for the life sciences campus proposal; existing buildings of comparable height to 
that of the life sciences proposal, and whether the EIR would support future 
development projects without the need for further CEQA analysis. 
 
Chair Gabriel opened public comment on the Final EIR. 
 
Eric Knight, representing Ultragenyx, expressed support for General Plan 2035 and 
urged the Planning Commission to approve the Plan.  
 
David Price Jones commented on correspondence he submitted to the Planning 
Commission regarding a downtown zoning regulation limiting use of ground-floor 
tenant spaces.   
 
The public comment period on the Final EIR was closed. 
 
Chair Gabriel acknowledged receiving Mr. Jones’ letter. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan noted receiving Mr. Jones’ letter and provided his 
recollection of the history and purpose of the ground-floor limitation, noting past 
concerns about not enough retail density.  
 
Commissioner Dawson acknowledged Mr. Jones’ letter and expressed support for 
leaving the ground floor restriction as is, recognizing retail uses create visual 
interest and pedestrian activity as opposed to offices with blinds drawn and dead 
spaces along the street. 
 
Commissioner Derby expressed a preference for flexibility with respect to ground-
floor uses considering economic changes. He noted that not all buildings would 
change from retail, and, perhaps, small offices are acceptable. He felt current 
zoning was a bit prescriptive and it is possible vacancies will be experienced in the 
future.  
 

https://novato.org/


 

 
Page | 4  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

Commissioner Gabriel acknowledged both perspectives on ground-floor uses and 
observed that some buildings do not provide sufficient depth to support retail. 
 
Commissioner Farac agreed with Commissioner Dawson but noted Commissioner 
Derby had some excellent points.   
 
Senior Assistant City Attorney Nebb noted that changes to the ground-floor 
limitations were not addressed in the Final EIR. 
 
Commissioner Havel stated he received Mr. Jones’ letter and that he was 
comfortable with the ground floor regulation as is.  
 
Commissioner Derby inquired whether General Plan 2035 contemplated new 
zoning changes. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall confirmed that certain zoning changes are directed by 
General Plan 2035. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan addressed General Plan 2035 by asking some clarifying 
questions about the land use categories presented in the Plan. He also inquired 
about the location of Arroyo de San Jose as raised in Marin Audubon’s letter. 
Commissioner Tiernan also acknowledged a letter from the Hanley Trust and noted 
existing uses could continue at the Hanley property despite the proposed land use 
change to Downtown Core.  
 
Planning Manager Marshall noted the location of Arroyo de San Jose relative to 
areas contemplated for life sciences campuses.   
 
Commissioner Derby inquired about the density range proposed for Downtown 
Core.  He asked why staff’s recommendation change from 20.0 to 30.0 units per 
acre to 10.0 to 23.0 units per acre. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall noted that staff decided to recommend a density that 
was based on the Housing Element.   
 
Senior Assistant City Attorney Nebb noted the density ranges assumed in the 
Housing Element were based on extensive community outreach and coordination 
with the California Department of Housing and Community Development.  

 
Commissioner Farac observed the Climate Action Plan is spread throughout 
General Plan 2035.  She was concerned the Climate Action Plan will be lost in 
General Plan 2035.   
 
Commissioner Derby commented on the issue of density in the Downtown Core.   
He observed that properties in the Downtown Core have limited depth, which leaves 

https://novato.org/


 

 
Page | 5  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

going-up in height to support density. He wasn’t certain whether 23.0 units per acre 
represented a right or wrong density. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan asked to hear Commission comments on the life sciences 
proposal since it is a significant change to General Plan 2035.  He felt the life 
sciences proposal could be hugely beneficial and questioned whether the 
Commission had concerns or support.  
 
Commissioner Dawson expressed support for the life sciences campus proposal, 
noting there is an ongoing desire to improve employment opportunities. He didn’t 
find the proposed floor area overbearing for the area. 
 
Commissioner Havel agreed with the sentiments of Commissioner Dawson. He felt 
life sciences campuses were located appropriately. He noted this component of 
General Plan 2035 gives opportunity. 
 
Commissioner Derby agreed with Commissioners Dawson and Havel. He 
emphasized focusing on flexibility and opportunity and noted his support for the life 
sciences campus proposal.  
 
Chair Gabriel opened public comment on General Plan 2035. 
 
Susan Stompe commented on her experience working at the industrial park for 
many years, including sitting in traffic during the evening commute. She believes 
there are issues the EIR did not adequately cover, in particular traffic in the 
industrial park area. She expressed concern about the one-way in and one-way out 
design of the industrial park area, noting there would be no way for exiting during 
an emergency. She stated residents at Bel Marin Keys have grave concerns about 
this issue and employment density. She observed that biotech firms could go the 
way of Fireman’s Fund and leave behind buildings available for a use change to a 
higher range of intensity.  
 
Chair Gabriel closed public comment on General Plan 2035.  
 
Chair Gabriel asked for commissioner comments. 
 
Commissioner Havel felt the Final EIR was comprehensive and thorough and 
supported the statement of overriding considerations. He was concerned about the 
level of specificity of some mitigations but understands there can be some flexibility. 
He stated General Plan 2035 is responsive to all input from the City Council, 
community, and commissions. He appreciates the point about retail in the 
Downtown Core, but what Novato has is special and he supports continuing to 
provide retail and community gathering spaces. He supported the Final EIR and 
General Plan 2035.   
 

https://novato.org/


 

 
Page | 6  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

Commissioner Tiernan agreed with Commissioner Havel and expressed his 
support for the Final EIR and General Plan 2035.  He noted the importance of the 
Urban Growth Boundary and the direction of General Plan 2035 to work with other 
agencies. He indicated interest in subsequent amendments to the Hillside 
Ordinance since many properties would be affected. He also observed the 
importance of General Plan 2035 to address gaps in the bicycle network. 
 
Commissioner Farac commented that General Plan 2035 is a refinement and 
reinforcement of the prior General Plan, noting the addition of governance and 
healthy eating/active living policies.  However, she is weary of having the Climate 
Action Plan intertwined with General Plan 2035 and looks forward to discussing that 
issue further when the Climate Action Plan is updated. She supports the Final EIR 
and General Plan 2035.  
 
Commissioner Derby thanked the public for their participation in General Plan 2035. 
He commented on the possibility of higher Regional Housing Needs Allocation 
(RHNA) figures and noted the UGB prevents urban sprawl, but we will be told what 
to do by the State.  He believes its likely some General Plan amendments will be 
needed in the future relative to housing. He felt the Final EIR is adequate and 
supports General Plan 2035 and the policy statement requested by ROIC.  
 
Commissioner Dawson stated the EIR is adequate. He noted the General Plan 
update has been a long process and a product of significant community discussion.  
He indicated all of staff’s recommended revisions to General Plan 2035 are 
reasonable. He supports the community’s vision to move away from the auto centric 
uses along Redwood Boulevard.  
 
Chair Gabriel acknowledged the General Plan is a living document and represents 
a trade-off between what we have now and what is required of us.  He recognized 
the General Plan sets the basis do something in the downtown corridor.  He stated 
his support for the Final EIR and General Plan 2035 realizing some changes are 
likely moving ahead.   

 
COMMISSION ACTION:   
 
Motion/Second:  Motion by Commissioner Tiernan and seconded by Commissioner 
Farac to adopt the CEQA resolution recommending certification of the Final EIR, 
adoption of a statement of overriding considerations, and adoption of a mitigation 
monitoring and reporting program.  Motion passed by roll call vote:  6-0-0-1 (Ayes:  
Commissioners Dawson, Derby, Farac, Gabriel, Havel, and Tiernan); Nay:  None; 
Abstain: None; Absent: Commissioner Rao 
 
Motion/Second:  Motion by Commissioner Dawson and seconded by 
Commissioner Tiernan to adopt the resolution recommending adoption of General 
Plan 2035 with revisions as proposed by staff and with addition of a policy 
statement requested by Retail Opportunity Investment Corporation (ROIC): 
 

https://novato.org/


 

 
Page | 7  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

“Consider expanding the Downtown Core General Plan designation north to Site 
5a to facilitate new commercial uses along Redwood Boulevard in conjunction with 
transit-oriented residential development.” 

 
Motion passed by roll call vote:  6-0-0-1 (Ayes:  Commissioners Dawson, Derby, 
Farac, Gabriel, Havel, and Tiernan); Nay:  None; Abstain: None; Absent: 
Commissioner Rao 
  

G. GENERAL BUSINESS   
 
There were no agenda items. 

 
H.   COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS 
  
 Planning Manager Marshall discussed future meeting schedules.   
 
I. ADJOURNMENT  
  
 The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 9:41 PM. 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly adopted at the Planning 
Commission meeting of November 9, 2020. 
 
/Shelley Woods/ 
__________________________________ 
Shelley Woods, Senior Office Assistant 

https://novato.org/

	F.1. PUBLIC HEARING AND POSSIBLE ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS
	RECOMMENDING CERTIFICATION OF FINAL EIR AND ADOPTION
	OF GENERAL PLAN 2035

